
When the keel of NORTH CAROLINA was laid in October of 1937, she was the first battleship to be 

constructed in sixteen years. She became the first of ten fast battleships to join the fleet in World War II. 

NORTH CAROLINA and her sister ship, WASHINGTON, comprised the NORTH CAROLINA class.

At the time of her commissioning on 9 April 1941, she was considered the world's greatest sea weapon. 

Armed with nine 16 inch guns in three turrets and twenty 5 inch 38 caliber guns in ten twin mounts, 

NORTH CAROLINA proved a formidable weapons platform. Her wartime complement consisted of 144 

commissioned officers and 2,195 enlisted men, including about 83 Marines.

During World War II, NORTH CAROLINA participated in every major naval offensive in the Pacific area of 

operations and earned 15 battle stars. In the Battle of the Eastern Solomon's Islands in August of 1942, 

the Battleship's anti-aircraft barrage helped save the carrier ENTERPRISE, thereby establishing the 

primary role of the fast battleship as protector of aircraft carriers. One of her Kingfisher pilots performed 

heroically during the strike on Truk when he rescued ten downed Navy aviators on 30 April 1944. In all, 

NORTH CAROLINA carried out nine shore bombardments, sank an enemy troopship, destroyed at least 

24 enemy aircraft, and assisted in shooting down many more. Her anti-aircraft guns helped to halt or 

frustrate scores of attacks on aircraft carriers. She steamed over 300,000 miles. Although Japanese 

radio announcements claimed six times that NORTH CAROLINA had been sunk, she survived many close 

calls and near misses – including a Japanese torpedo which slammed into the Battleship's hull on 15 

September 1942. A quick response on the part of the crew allowed the mighty ship to keep up with the 

fleet. By war's end, the ship lost only ten men in action and had 67 wounded. After serving as a training 

vessel for midshipmen, NORTH CAROLINA was decommissioned 27 June 1947 and placed in the Inactive 

Reserve Fleet in Bayonne, New Jersey, for the next 14 years.
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Decommissioned in 1947, the Battleship remained quietly in the Reserve Fleet, Bayonne, New Jersey, 

until the 1958 announcement of her impending scrapping. Determined not to let the Battleship fall to the 

scrapper's torch, James S. Craig, Jr., a World War II veteran and member of Wilmington's American Legion 

Post 10, conceived of a plan to obtain the ship from the Federal Government and raise money to bring her 

to Wilmington as a World War II memorial and landmark of great historical and educational value.

American Legion Post 10 passed a Resolution in January 1959 to appoint a Battleship Committee to study 

the feasibility of saving the ship. Encouraged by the Battleship Committee which found saving the ship to 

be both desirable and possible, Governor Terry Sanford appointed a Battleship Commission to raise funds. 

He selected Post 10 member and prominent entrepreneur Hugh Morton as the chairman and included 

James Craig as well. The Commission devised a clever fund raising strategy in creating the Admirals of 

the North Carolina Navy.

The Commission appointed a community leader from each of North Carolina's 100 counties to serve as

their county's fund chairman to spearhead the fund raising in their county. To honor their hard work, these 

county fund chairmen became Admirals of the Fleet. Citizens contributing $100.00 also became Admirals, 

receiving certificates, lifetime admission passes, and having their names listed on a plaque on board the 

ship. To launch the admiralty, the Commission named President John F. Kennedy, a World War II Navy 

veteran himself, as the first Admiral.

The campaign also included asking the state's students to give 10 cents to save the ship. If the school 

had 100 percent participation, then each student received a free admission ticket and the school's name 

would appear on a plaque on board ship. Money poured in from every school in the state. In the end 

700,000 of North Carolina's one million students contributed. The statewide campaign successfully 

raised $330,000 to purchase, dredge and prepare a site and have the ship towed from New Jersey. On 

September 6, 1961, during a formal ceremony in Bayonne, New Jersey, the Federal Government formally 

handed over the 35,000 ton Battleship to the State of North Carolina. She opened to the public on October 

14, 1961. Saved by individuals and not tax money, she continues to be self-supporting.  In 2011, the 

Battleship NORTH CAROLINA celebrated 50 years of being moored in Wilmington, North Carolina. 
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